IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC06-912

Lower Tribunal Case No. 1D05-4149

NOTAMI HOSPITAL OF FLORIDA, INC. d/b/a LAKE CITY MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellant,

vs.

EVELYN BOWEN ET AL.,

Appellees.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stephen J. Bronis, Esq. Steven Wisotsky, Esq. Zuckerman Spaeder LLP 201 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 900 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-5000 Charles T. Shad, Esq. Saalfield, Shad, Jay, Lucas & Stokes, P.A. Bank of America Tower, Suite 2950 50 North Laura Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 355-4401

INTRODUCTION

This case presents important questions concerning the validity of § 381.028, Fla. Stat. (2005), under Amendment 7; the proper interpretation of Amendment 7; and the validity of Amendment 7 under the Contract Clause (Art. I, § 10, cl. 1) and the Supremacy Clause (Art. VI, cl. 2) of the U.S. Constitution.

The record on appeal ("R") consists of the five volumes forwarded by the Clerk of the First District. The Appendix of Petitioners in that Court consisted of 20 numbered tabs; Appellant will refer to the Appendix below by use of the term "Tab." For the convenience of the Justices of this Court, Appellant has contemporaneously with its Initial Brief submitted a short Appendix, referred to as "FSC App." It contains four tabbed items, A-D, in sequence: the opinion below, Amendment 7, § 381.028, Fla. Stat. (2005), and the opinion of the Fifth District in *Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster*, 2006 WL 566084 (Fla. 5th DCA Mar. 10, 2006).

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. The Nature of the Case

This is an appeal by Lake City Medical Center ("LCMC") from a decision and opinion of the First District denying LCMC's petition for a writ of common law certiorari to quash a discovery order compelling disclosure of records that were privileged and confidential when created and declaring § 381.028 Fla. Stat. (2005) unconstitutional. *Notami Hosp. of Fla., Inc. v. Bowen*, 927 So. 2d 139, 145 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). (FSC App. A) This Court has mandatory appellate jurisdiction under Fla. R. App. P. 9030(a)(1)(A). In the courts below, Appellant LCMC was the Petitioner in the First District and Defendant in the Circuit Court.

B. The Course of Proceedings and Dispositions Below

Appellees, who were Plaintiffs in the Circuit Court and Respondents in the First District, sued for medical malpractice. Each suit was filed before Amendment 7 was passed. Each suit alleged that Dr. Robert Pendrak performed negligent surgery, resulting in injury or death to plaintiffs (or their decedents). LCMC was alleged to be negligent in credentialing, retaining, or supervising Dr. Pendrak. By agreement of the parties, the trial court consolidated the three suits for purposes of discovery, which turned on the interpretation and application of Amendment 7 ("patients' right to know about adverse medical incidents"), Art. X, § 25, Fla. Const. (FSC App. B). The trial judge granted plaintiffs' motion to compel pretrial discovery of information that was acknowledged to be privileged and confidential at the time it was created or communicated.

Summary of The Amendment 7 Discovery Dispute

Plaintiffs served LCMC with a Notice of Taking Videotape Deposition Duces Tecum of Gary [*sic*] Karsner, LCMC's CEO before passage of Amendment 7. It sought production of "all files, papers, and computer records relating to the selection, retention, or termination of Robert B. Pendrak, M.D., at Lake City Medical Center." (Tab 3). LCMC filed a Motion for Protective Order as to the credentialing file and related documents, invoking, *inter alia*, risk management, peer review and other statutory privileges. (Tab 4). LCMC also filed a Privilege Log pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.280(b)(5). (Tab 5).

The deposition was held on November 3, 2004, the day after Amendment 7 was passed by the voters. Respondents' counsel propounded questions to which counsel for LCMC invoked statutory privileges. A single example suffices to convey the nature of the discovery dispute at deposition.¹

- Q. During the time that you've been here, have you heard of any other patient that has eviscerated [*sic*] following elective surgery from a wound infection?
 - MR. SHAD: Now, again, if any information has come to you through any hospital Risk Management or Peer Review Committee or Quality Assurance Committee, I instruct you not to answer; if you got that information from another source, you certainly should answer it.

THE WITNESS: I can't answer it.

(Tab 6, p.180). Tab 10 lists the specific questions that Plaintiffs identified as the subject of their motion to compel.²

¹ Other examples appear in the transcript of deposition. (Tab 6.)

² Plaintiffs listed these pages of the deposition transcript as containing questions subject to the motion to compel answers: 66-72, 121-24, 129-30, 133, 143-45, 149,

Written discovery was also at issue. In a successive motion to compel, Plaintiffs broadened their previous request (Tab 8) from the credentialing file of Dr. Pendrak to "[a]ny records made or received in the course of business by LCMC relating to any adverse medical incident involving Dr. Pendrak." (Tab 10, Exh. A).

Three Motions to Compel were called up for hearing on May 12, 2005.

At the hearing, it was stipulated that:

the three motions ... are all predicated ... [on] Amendment 7. There's no other ground stated. And so the only thing before the court is Amendment 7.

(Tab 2, p.37). Plaintiffs' counsel conceded that the documents and information sought to be compelled were created and were privileged before passage of Amendment 7. There was no individualized consideration of the unanswered deposition questions. The order did not differentiate between Mr. Karsner's testimony and LCMC's production of documents. Amendment 7 applies by its terms only to "records." Art. X, § 25(a), Fla. Const. The legislature enacted a statute to implement Amendment 7. It, too, refers only to "records." § 381.028(7)(a), Fla. Stat. (2005). (FSC App. C).

On August 5, 2005, the trial court entered an order requiring (1) LCMC to produce privileged and confidential peer review, credentialing, quality assurance, and risk management records of any adverse medical incident "involving" Dr.

^{154, 155-56, 161, 176, 180. (}Tab 10).

Pendrak, and (2) compelling Garry Karsner, the CEO of LCMC, to testify on deposition about privileged and confidential investigations, proceedings and records relating to Dr. Pendrak.³ (Tab 1). All written and testimonial information that was compelled to be disclosed was created before the November 2, 2004 passage of Amendment 7. The discovery order stayed execution pending appellate review.⁴ (Tab 2, p.7, ¶ 3).

Certiorari Review in the First District

LCMC timely filed a petition for writ of common law certiorari to quash the order of the trial court.⁵ (R1:1). The First District issued a briefing schedule and oral argument was had. On April 21, the First District issued the opinion that is the subject of this appeal. (R5:712; FSC App. A). It denied the petition and let the discovery order stand without differentiating between the written discovery requests and the oral deposition questions. It affirmed the three legal conclusions reached by the trial court: Amendment 7 is self-executing; Amendment 7 is

³ The trial court ordered Mr. Karsner "to [respond to] the questions propounded to him at deposition which, prior to the passage of Amendment 7, sought privileged information." (Tab 1, p.6, \P 2).

⁴ By agreement of the parties following decision of the First District, a continuation of the stay pending disposition of litigation in this Court was entered by the circuit court.

⁵ "[A] petition for writ of certiorari is appropriate to remedy situations in which hospitals have been wrongly ordered to disclose statutorily privileged documents." *Tarpon Springs Gen. Hosp. v. Huidak*, 556 So. 2d 831, 832 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

retroactive to records and reports created and incidents occurring before it was passed on November 2, 2004; and § 381.028, Fla. Stat. (2005), implementing Amendment 7, is unconstitutional. *Notami*, 927 So. 2d 139, 145 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006).

The Fifth District earlier reached a partially contrary conclusion, holding that Amendment 7 was not retroactive. *Buster*, 2006 WL 566084 *8. (FSC App. D). The First District certified conflict with *Buster* with respect to its conclusion that Amendment 7 is retroactive. *Notami*, 927 So. 2d at 145. Judge Ervin dissented from the holding that Amendment 7 is retroactive. *Id*.

LCMC timely filed a notice of appeal invoking this court's mandatory appellate jurisdiction under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii). (The notice also invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction over the certified conflict under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).) This Court granted review of three certified questions in *Buster*. Appellant Notami filed a notice of pending related case with this Court and suggested that the two cases, having the same three questions in common, should be briefed and argued contemporaneously. Counsel for Florida Hospital Waterman agreed in a similar filing.

C. Standards of Review

All issues of constitutional validity and statutory interpretation are legal questions subject to *de novo* review. *Zingale v. Powell*, 885 So. 2d 277, 280 (Fla. 2004).

6

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. NON-RETROACTIVITY

A. <u>Because Amendment 7 Does Not Express A Retroactive Intent, The</u> <u>Law Presumes Against Retroactivity In Order To Protect Settled</u> <u>Expectations. All The Discovery Sought By Plaintiffs Pre-Dates</u> <u>Amendment 7.</u>

Amendment 7 took effect the day it passed, November 2, 2004. The Fifth District considered its statement of effective date as evidence of prospective intent. *Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster*, 2006 WL 566084 *6 (Fla. 5th DCA Mar. 10, 2006). Amendment 7 did not explicitly declare itself to be retroactive to pre-existing records of "adverse medical incidents." The presumption is that the amendment receives "prospective effect only." *In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor – Terms of County Court Judges*, 750 So. 2d 610, 614 (Fla. 1999).

Amendment 7 has undeniable retroactive effect because it "attaches new legal consequences to events [confidential peer review, credentialing and related confidential quality assurance investigations] completed before its enactment." *Landgraf v. USI Film Prods.*, 511 U.S. 244, 270 (1994). "Elementary considerations of fairness dictate that individuals should have an opportunity to know what the law is and to conform their conduct accordingly; settled expectations should not be lightly disrupted." *Id.* at 265.

B. Retroactive Application Of Amendment 7 Would Destroy Vested Rights.

Retroactive application of Amendment 7 to compel disclosure of documents that were privileged and confidential when they were created will destroy vested rights. Somer v. Johnson, 704 F.2d 1473, 1479 (11th Cir. 1983) (holding that Florida statute protecting the confidentiality of the records of hospital committees formed to evaluate and improve quality of health care created a substantive privilege). Retroactive application of a statute is invalid where "vested rights are adversely affected or destroyed" McCord v. Smith, 43 So. 2d 704, 709 (Fla. Retroactive application of a constitutional amendment is likewise 1949). disfavored where vested rights would be destroyed and where its terms do not compel retroactivity. The Fifth District reached the correct conclusion on this issue: "Retroactive application would not be constitutionally permissible because it vitiates a vested right that health care providers have in the confidentiality of the information generated through the self-evaluative process." Buster, 2006 WL 566084 at *6.

C. The Legislative And Executive Branch Determinations That Amendment 7 Is Prospective Only Are Entitled To Respect.

Section 381.028(5), Fla. Stat. (2005) interprets Amendment 7 as prospective only, *i.e.*, to documents created or incidents occurring after November 2, 2004. Legislators have responsibilities for constitutional interpretation. *State ex rel. Davis*

v. Rose, 122 So. 225, 237 (Fla. 1929). Their judgment should be respected if it is rational.

Before the statute was enacted, the General Counsel for the Department of Health (DOH) had issued a legal opinion that "[u]nder applicable constitutional principles, Amendment 7 is prospective in application" meaning that "both the adverse medical incident must have occurred and the record must have been created after November 2, 2004 in order for Amendment 7 to apply." Its legal determination, even of constitutional law, is entitled to "deference." *Pringle v. Marine Fisheries Comm'n*, 732 So. 2d 395, 397 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

II. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENT 7 TO LCMC'S PRE-EXISTING CONTRACT WITH ITS MEDICAL STAFF WOULD NULLIFY THE CONTRACTUAL REQUIREMENT THAT PEER REVIEW REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE CONTRACT CLAUSE.

The documents and testimony sought by Plaintiffs were made or received under contractual guarantees of confidentiality. As a condition of licensure, LCMC is required by Florida law to "have a planned, systematic, hospital wide approach to the assessment, and improvement of its performance to enhance and improve the quality of health care provided to the public." Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA), Fla. Admin. Code R. 59A-3.271(1). (Tab 15). The required hospital system for quality improvement "must be defined in writing, approved by the governing board (of the hospital), and shall include a confidentiality policy." Fla. Admin. Code R. 59A-3.271(1)(b)(3). (Tab 15). The governing board of LCMC approved and adopted the bylaws of the medical staff of the hospital and the rules regulating its medical staff. Such adoption to accomplish peer review and credentialing constitutes a binding, enforceable contracts between it and the physicians comprising its medical staff. *See Greenberg v. Mount Sinai Med. Ctr.*, 629 So. 2d 252, 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); *Lawler v. Eugene Wuesthoff Mem'l. Hosp. Ass'n*, 497 So. 2d 1261, 1264 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Confidentiality is a material term of those contracts. Application of Amendment 7 to compel disclosure of confidential peer review information would substantially impair those agreements, in violation of the Contract Clause.

III. BECAUSE AMENDMENT 7 DID NOT DEFINE ITS OPERATIVE TERMS AND LEFT OPEN IMPORTANT POLICY QUESTIONS, IT IS NOT SELF-EXECUTING. LEGISLATIVE IMPLEMENTATION WAS REQUIRED.

Amendment 7 left numerous gaps in the law. It did not, for example, define "record"; it did not provide a "look back" period; it did not address retroactivity. These and other holes needed to be filled by legislation. Section 381.028(2), Fla. Stat. (2005), did so. By comparison, Amendment 3, The Medical Liability Claimant's Compensation Amendment, appeared on the same ballot as Amendment 7 and specifically provided that it was self-executing. Amendment 7 did not. It could not. It was far too indefinite.

The test for a newly enacted amendment is "whether or not the provision lays down a sufficient rule by means of which the right or purpose which it gives or is intended to accomplish may be determined, enjoyed, or protected without the aid of legislative enactment." *Gray v. Bryant*, 125 So. 2d 846, 851 (Fla. 1960). Amendment 7 fails that test. Unlike *Gray*, which involved application of a simple mathematical judge-to-population ratio, the vague language of Amendment 7 left open significant questions of public policy and practical implementation. Implementing legislation was necessary.

IV. SECTION 381.028 IS A CONSTITUTIONALLY VALID IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AMBIGUITIES OF AMENDMENT 7.

The First District concluded that the challenged statute conflicted with Amendment 7 in four respects. But viewed as a whole, it provides a workable system to implement Amendment 7. The "final report" clause is not a limitation on Amendment 7 disclosures. Rather, it defines what constitutes an "adverse" medical incident report by creating a standard that approximates probable cause. Without such a standard, those required to respond to Amendment 7 requests are required to guess at the meaning of an incident that "could have caused" injury or death. The Court of Appeal also disapproved of the "time frame" imposed by the statute; but the statute and the *Buster* court correctly analyzed Amendment 7 as lacking in a clear statement of retroactive intent.

The First district condemned the statute's preservation of existing selfpolicing privileges, but the language of Amendment 7 does not mention, much less abolish, peer review, risk management, credentialing or quality assurance privileges at all. Its *Notami* opinion infers an intention by the voters to destroy those privileges. This was one possible reading of Amendment 7 but not the best one. Absent an explicit statement in Amendment 7 abolishing privileges and confidentiality, the Court went too far in divining a *vox populi* to create a "new era" for the medical care system.

The First District also faulted the statute's prohibition on pretrial discovery. Amendment 7 makes no reference at all to litigation or to pretrial discovery. It would have been an easy matter for the Amendment 7 drafters to declare that the patients' "right to know" was a pretrial discovery device. They did not do so. Although pretrial discovery is a possible interpretation of "access" to records of adverse medical incidents, it is not the best one. Pretrial discovery requires sharing of the privileged documents with persons who are not entitled to receive them under Amendment 7, *e.g.*, the co-defendants of the hospital. Amendment 7 does not provide for pretrial discovery, and this Court should strive to uphold the statute.

The statute is correct in viewing Amendment 7 as providing a consumer information model for prospective patients shopping for medical services, not lawsuits. This model also supports the statutory definition of adverse medical incident reports as those that are "the same or substantially similar" to those of the patient making the request. §381.028(7)(a), Fla. Stat. (2005).

V. AMENDMENT 7 IS INVALID UNDER THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION IF THE ABOLITION OF PEER REVIEW PRIVILEGES IS UPHELD.

Amendment 7 is preempted by federal law because compelled disclosure of confidential peer review documents will stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress expressed in the Health Care Quality Improvement Act (HCQIA), 42 U.S.C. § 11101 et seq. (2000), in which effective peer review is central.

ARGUMENT

I. AMENDMENT 7 DOES NOT APPLY RETROACTIVELY TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF RECORDS THAT WERE PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL WHEN CREATED.

A. Because Amendment 7 Is Not Explicitly Retroactive, The Law Presumes It To Be Prospective; All Information At Issue Pre-Dates Amendment 7.

All records ordered disclosed by the trial court pre-date the enactment of Amendment 7. All answers to deposition questions compelled by the trial court pertain to pre-Amendment 7 events. Amendment 7 took effect the day it passed, November 2, 2004. The Fifth District construed that as indicating prospective intent. *Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster*, 2006 WL 566084 at *6. Amendment 7 did not explicitly create a patient's right of access to records of adverse medical incidents created before that date. The records were, by law and by concession of opposing counsel, exempt from discovery before passage of Amendment 7.

The counter-argument made by Appellees in the court below is that Amendment 7 is not retroactive "merely" because it applies to "conduct antedating" the enactment, *Landgraf v. USI Film Prods.*, 511 U.S. 244, 269 (1994). This is a half truth. Amendment 7 is retroactive not "merely" because it applies to past conduct but because it attaches new, harmful legal consequences to that conduct. Its retroactive effect is undeniable.

Retroactive law is a potent medicine that must be administered sparingly and only when the intention to do so is explicit. For this reason, "[u]nless specifically stated in the text or in the statement placed on the ballot, constitutional amendments are generally given prospective effect only." *In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor – Terms of County Court Judges*, 750 So. 2d 610, 614 (Fla. 1999).

There is no explicit statement of retroactive intent in Amendment 7 or its ballot summary. Amendment 7 is silent as to its effect on pre-existing documents. Silence indicates a lack of retroactive intent. *See Mem'l Hosp.-W. Volusia, Inc. v. News-Journal Corp.*, 784 So. 2d 438, 441 (Fla. 2001) (finding no clear legislative intent supporting retroactive application where statute was "silent concerning the effect . . . on those records in existence at the time the statute was enacted").

Nonetheless, the First District inferred retroactive intent by focusing on words in Amendment 7 that apply only to a sub-set of the total universe of potential "patients" who could make Amendment 7 requests, those who had "*previously* *undergone treatment.*" *Notami Hosp. of Fla., Inc. v. Bowen,* 927 So. 2d 139, 145 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (emphasis in the original). According to the Court, this "expresses a clear intent that the records subject to disclosure include those created prior to the effective date of the amendment." *Id.*

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