## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC06-912

Lower Tribunal Case No. 1D05-4149

## NOTAMI HOSPITAL OF FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a LAKE CITY MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellant,

vs.

## EVELYN BOWEN, ET AL.,

Appellees.

## **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

Thomas K. Equels J. Stanley Chapman Judson H. Orrick Holtzman Equels 660 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850)222-2900 (850)222-2933 facsimile

# **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

On November 2, 2004, the people of Florida passed Amendment 7 by a margin of 81.2% in favor to 18.8% opposed. The constitution now provides a fundamental right for patients "to know and have access to records of a health care facility's or provider's adverse medical incidents, including medical malpractice and other acts which have caused or have the potential to cause injury or death." Amendment 7, section 1.

The amendment effectively repealed statutes that kept doctors' and hospitals' records of medical negligence secret. Having lost at the ballot box, these special interest groups sought to preserve the repealed statutory privileges through legislation and litigation.

#### **I.** Retrospective Application

The trial and appellate courts below correctly determined that in saying "patients have a right to have access to *any records* . . . *relating to any adverse medical incident*" Floridians clearly demanded for themselves access to all such records, past, present and future.

Statutory privileges, like the ones at issue here, are not substantive, vested rights. These privileges were created by statute and can be repealed by either

5

statute or constitutional mandate. Well-established rules of construction hold that testimonial privileges are to be read narrowly, while fundamental rights established through general referendum are to be accorded great deference. Both the plain language of the amendment and statutory construction principles direct that Amendment 7 applies to any records regardless of when they were created.

#### **II.** Contract Clause

Appellant's allegation that applying the amendment to existing records violates the Contract Clause of the United States Constitution lacks merit. To establish constitutionality the Court must analyze: 1) whether the law has operated as a substantial impairment of a contractual relationship; 2) whether any such impairment is justified by a significant and legitimate public purpose; and 3) whether the adjustment of rights and responsibilities is appropriate to the public purpose justifying the law. The contract "rights" LCMC alleges are impaired are, in fact, merely terms that LCMC imposes on its staff as a condition of obtaining hospital privileges. Amendment 7 does not operate to substantially impair a contractual relationship. The public purposes justifying any modification to LCMC's employment contracts clearly are legitimate and significant. LCMC cannot contract to perpetuate secrecy and privilege in matters of important public interest and thereby avoid the reach of the State into such matters.

#### **III.** Self-Execution

The court below found Amendment 7 does not require implementing legislation, and recognized Section 381.028, Florida Statutes, as an attempt not to implement Amendment 7, but rather to overturn it. The amendment meets this Court's self-execution test in that "it lays down a sufficient rule by means of which the right or purpose which it gives or is intended to accomplish may be determined, enjoyed, or protected without the aid of legislative enactment."<sup>1</sup> Specific definition of primary phrases are included in the amendment, giving the average citizen information sufficient to determine to whom the amendment applies, and the nature of the information that must be disclosed.<sup>2</sup> No new system for production or redaction of records is necessary. Moreover, the amendment stated it would be "effective on the date it is approved by the electorate." Any interpretation that the amendment is not self-executing is directly contrary to that directive.

#### IV. Unconstitutionality of Section 381.028

<sup>2</sup> *Gray v. Bryant*, 125 So.2d 846, 851 (Fla. 1960).

<sup>3 &</sup>quot;[T]here is no word in the amendment incapable of understanding.... 'ambiguity' simply will not serve as a sound underpinning of an argument offered to delay implementation of Article X, § [25]." *Sardes v. South Broward Hospital District*, Case No. 03-5290-CACE (17<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit, Broward County, 2006)

The First District Court of Appeal also correctly determined that, "[b]ecause section 381.028, restricts express constitutional rights, it must fail." Notami Hospital, 927 So. 2d at 145. The amendment was intended to obtain for the people access to records previously privileged by statute. The First District compared the provisions of Amendment 7 with the provisions of Section 381.028 and found: 1) Article X, section 25 allows access to "any records made or received in the course of business by a healthcare facility or provider relating to *any* adverse medical incident;" Section 381.028(3)(j) attempts to limit disclosure to only a "final report"; 2) Article X, section 25 allows access to any records of any adverse medical incident; Section 381.082 attempts to limit disclosure to a final report relating to the same or substantially similar condition, treatment or diagnosis with that of the patient requesting the records; 3) Amendment X, section 25 contains no limitation on the time frame within which discoverable records were generated; Section 381.082(5) limits production to records created after November 2, 2004; 4) Article X, section 25 states its purpose as changing current law; Section 381.082 states that Article X, section 25 does not affect existing privileges.

Having found in the implementing statute clear restrictions on established constitutional rights, the court below properly struck down the law.

<sup>(</sup>Vol. IV, R-610-11).

#### V. Federal Preemption

Appellant claims the federal government has preempted the issue of confidentiality of records of peer review proceedings under the Health Care Quality Information Act, 42 U.S.C. § 11101, *et seq.*, ("HCQIA"). Federal courts consistently have held that there is no federal peer review privilege, however, and that HCQIA protects only the information reported under the Act. Indeed, "Congress spoke loudly with its silence in not including a privilege against discovery of peer review materials in the HCQIA."<sup>3</sup> The Act itself provides that nothing therein is to be "construed as affecting *in any manner* the rights and remedies afforded patients under any provision of Federal or State law to seek redress for any harm or injury suffered as a result of negligent treatment by any physician, health care practitioner, or health care entity, . . ." 42 U.S.C. § 11115 (d).

Appellant is correct that "Congress created immunity from suit as an incentive for hospitals and physicians to engage in peer review . . .." Initial Brief at 42. However, this incentive – immunity from suit for peer review participation in the absence of intentional fraud or the knowing presentation of false information – is still provided to peer review participants. *See* Sections 395.0191(7);

<sup>4</sup> *Teasdale v. Marin General Hospital*, 138 F.R.D. 691, 694 (N.D.Calif. 1991).

395.0193(5); 766.101(3)(a)&(7)(e), Florida Statutes; 42 U.S.C. §11111. Neither Amendment 7, nor the rulings below change that.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT RECORDS CREATED PRIOR TO NOVEMBER 2, 2004, ARE SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF AMENDMENT 7.

Appellant accurately observes that "[r]etroactive application of a constitutional amendment is disfavored where vested rights would be destroyed and where its terms do not compel retroactivity."<sup>4</sup> As the trial and appellate courts below found, however, Amendment 7 did not destroy vested rights, and the language approved by the people clearly compels retroactivity:<sup>5</sup>

## A. Amendment 7 Does Not Affect Vested Rights.

The district court first analyzed the nature of "vested rights" and found that appellants had only an expectation that the law would not change, not a vested right to statutory privileges in perpetuity:

"A statute is not unconstitutionally retrospective in its operation unless it impairs a substantive, vested right." *Clausell v. Hobart Corp.*, 515 So.2d 1275, 1276 (Fla.1987). However, "[t]o be vested a right must be more than a *mere expectation based on an anticipation of the continuance of an existing law....*" *Id.* (quoting *Div. of Workers'* 

<sup>5</sup> Initial Brief at 8, *citing*, *Buster*, 2006 WL 566084 at \*6.

<sup>6 &</sup>quot;It is also appropriate for us to examine the 'explanatory materials available to the people as a predicate for their decision as persuasive of their intent." *Dep't of Environmental Protection v. Millender*, 666 So.2d at 886 (Fla. 1996) (quoting *Plante v. Smathers*, 372 So.2d 933, 936 (Fla.1979).

*Comp. v. Brevda,* 420 So.2d 887, 891 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)). Here, the Hospital does not have a vested right in maintaining the confidentiality of adverse medical incidents. The Hospital's "right" is no more than an expectation that previously existing statutory law would not change. Because the Hospital's expectation is not a vested, substantive right, applying Amendment 7 to records created prior to its passage is not unconstitutionally retrospective.

Notami, 927 So.2d at 143-144.

Appellant cites *Somer v. Johnson*, 704 F.2d 1473, 1479 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983) for the proposition that F.S. §768.40(4) creates a "*substantive privilege*." Neither *Somer* nor any other opinion cited by Appellant holds the medical confidentiality statutes confer a substantive *right* upon the Appellant, nor that the right would have been "vested" at the time Amendment 7 was adopted.<sup>6</sup> The distinction between a vested right and the type of statutory privilege at issue here was explained by a Georgia court examining that state's public records law:

It has been held that once a statutory right becomes "vested" no subsequent legislative act can impair it. However, a well established exception exists that a person has no vested right in statutory *privileges* and exemptions. A subsequent legislative act can impair or destroy a statutory privilege.

Evans v. Belth, 388 S.E. 2d. 914, 916 (Ga.Ct.App. 1989)(citations omitted) (emphasis in original).

While no support is found in the common law for Appellant's position, the

<sup>7</sup> A Texas court, however, held plaintiffs had no vested right to discover records created prior to, but sought after, adoption of that state's hospital peer review privilege. *Northeast Community Hospital v. Gregg*, 815 S.W.2d 320, 327

position of the trial court and First District followed a rule enunciated in New York

more than 100 years ago. As restated by the Michigan Supreme Court:

It is a general rule of constitutional law that a citizen has no vested right in statutory privileges and exemptions, *Cooley Const. Lim.* 7th Ed., p. 546, *Brearley School v. Ward*, 201 N.Y. 358 (1901), and a franchise granted by the State with a reservation of a right to repeal must be regarded as a mere privilege while it is suffered to continue, but the legislature may take it away at any time and the grantees must rely for the perpetuity and integrity of the franchises granted to them solely upon the faith of the sovereign grantor.

Stott v. Stott Realty, 284 N.W. 635, 637 (Mich. 1939).

Moreover, the statutory privileges repealed by Amendment 7 were never intended to be absolute. For example, Section 458.337(3), Florida Statutes, gave the State subpoena powers over the records in question.

The Fifth District's *Buster* opinion gave no clear rationale for its conclusion that vested, substantive rights were at issue.<sup>7</sup> Without examining the nature of vested rights, or considering the public's expressed will, the court said only that "[r]etroactive application would not be constitutionally permissible because it vitiates a vested right that health care providers have in the confidentiality of the information generated through the self-evaluative process." *Buster* at \*6.

<sup>(</sup>Tex. Ct. App. 1991).

<sup>8</sup> The Fifth District earlier described the laws at issue as conferring a statutory privilege. *See, e.g., Paracelsus Santa Rosa Med. Ctr. v. Smith,* 732 So.2d 49 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); *Cape Canaveral Hosp., Inc. v. Leal*, 917 So.2d 336 (Fla.

The First District, however, explained that to be "vested" a right must have become a "title, legal or equitable, to the present or future enforcement of a demand." *Notami* at 143; *Div. of Workers' Comp. v. Brevda*, 420 So.2d 887, 891 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The Appellant's privileges do not meet that test.

Analogously, courts considering previously confidential adoption records have consistently found statutes later allowing access to those records constitutionally sound. *See, Doe v. Sundquist*, 2 S.W.3d 919 (Tenn. 1999)(statute did not retroactively impair vested rights of birth parents or violate their state constitutional right to privacy); *Does 1-7 v. State*, 993 P.2d 822 (Or. App. 1999), *review denied*, 6 P.3d 1098 (Or. 2000)(rejecting birth mothers' constitutional challenge that voter-approved initiative impaired obligations of contract or invaded right to privacy). The same result is dictated here; the benefit gained for the patient far outweighs any perceived consequences that disclosure of the records may have for those creating them.

Opponents of the amendment argued before this Court that "while the amendment is designed to provide access to records on adverse medical incidents, it does so by *repealing* several different statutes ...." *Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General Re: Patients' Right to Know About Adverse Medical Incidents*, 880 So.2d 617, 620 (Fla. 2004). If a right, remedy or privilege is created by statute,

its repeal has retroactive effect. *See*, *Yaffee v. International Co.*, 80 So.2d 910, 913 (Fla.1955)("[W]hen the statute is repealed, the right or remedy created by the statute falls with it."); *Bureau of Crimes Compensation v. Williams*, 405 So.2d 747, 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981)("Repealing statutes apply retrospectively in all situations where a right or remedy has been created wholly by statute.").

Appellant's broader public policy argument also lacks merit. This court has recognized that,

Despite formulations hinging on categories such as "vested rights" or "remedies," it has been suggested that the weighing process by which courts in fact decide whether to sustain the retroactive application of a statute involves three considerations: the strength of the public interest served by the statute, the extent to which the right affected is abrogated, and the nature of the right affected.

State Dep't of Transp. v. Knowles, 402 So.2d 1155, 1158 (Fla.1981); see also,

Department of Agric. & Consumer Servs. v. Bonanno, 568 So.2d 24, 30 (Fla.1990).

Florida voters weighed the sanctity of doctors' peer review process against citizens' right to know about medical mistakes and voted *overwhelmingly* for an outright repeal of the special treatment the legislature had carved out for the medical profession. Clearly the people do not share the Appellant's view that the public interests were being served by these secrecy laws. The third part of the *Knowles* test further favors retroactive application of Article X, section 25: The nature of the "right" at issue is to shield evidence of doctors' and hospital's

neglect. The law is well-settled that evidentiary privileges are to be narrowly interpreted:

Since privileges shielding information from the reach of the court contravene the fundamental principle that the public has a right to every man's evidence, such privileges must be strictly construed.

*Trammel v. United States*, 445 U.S. 40, 50, 100 S.Ct. 906, 912, 63 L.Ed.2d 186 (1980) (*quoting, United States v. Bryan,* 339 U.S. 323, 331, 70 S.Ct. 724, 730, 94 L.Ed. 884 (1950).

Finally, Appellants argue that the extremely narrow reading of Article X, section 25 proffered by the Florida Legislature and general counsel of the Florida Department of Health "is entitled to deference," citing a case where the Marine Fisheries Commission was permitted to determine the mesh parameters of mullet nets.<sup>8</sup> This is not an amendment which arose from the legislature, however, but from popular initiative. Further, an opinion of the general counsel of the affected department has no binding effect outside the Department, especially where the opinion has not gone through the formal process for declaratory statements required by Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. In any event, this Court has made clear that in matters of constitutional law it is the express will of the people that demands deference. *Gray*, 89 So.2d at 790.

<sup>9</sup> Pringle v. Marine Fisheries Commission, 732 So.2d 395, 397 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup>

# **B.** Voters Approved Language Clearly Applying the Amendment to Records Created Prior to Its Adoption.

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